IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL JOSEPH JEFFRIES,
Defendant/Appellant,
vs.
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff/Respondent.

CASE NO. 68338

District Court Case No. 02-7431

Dept.: XX

Electronically Filed
Feb 11 2016 08:30 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from a Final Judgment of Conviction in a Criminal Case
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada
The Honorable J. Charles Thompson, District Judge

GENTILE CRISTALLI MILLER
ARMENI SAVARESE

VINCENT SAVARESE III, ESQ.
410 South Rampart Blvd., Suite 420
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
(702) 880-000
Attorneys for Defendant/Appellant
MICHAEL JOSEPH JEFFRIES

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

A.
Supreme Court

This Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes (“NRS”) 177.015(3) in that this is an appeal from a final judgment of conviction in a criminal case. This Court has jurisdiction to review the district court’s denial of the Defendant’s Motion for New Trial pursuant to NRS 177.015(1)(b).

B.
Timeliness of Appeal

The written Judgment of Conviction was entered by the district court in this case on June 2, 2015. AA, Vol. 3, pp. 701-702. The Defendant filed his Notice of Appeal on June 29, 2015. AA, Vol. 3, pp. 703-705. Therefore, this appeal is timely brought. NRAP 4(b)(1)(A).

C.
Final Order

This is an appeal from a final judgment of conviction in a criminal case. AA, Vol. 3, pp. 701-702.

3.
ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court in that this is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction in a criminal case based upon a jury verdict finding the Defendant guilty of a category A felony. NRAP 17(b)(1).

4.
ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the district court abused its discretion in denying the Defendant's Motion for a New Trial based upon juror misconduct?
 - A. Whether objective evidence established that juror misconduct in accessing and discussing extraneous information regarding punishment occurred during deliberation?
 - B. Whether there is a reasonable probability that juror misconduct prejudiced the Defendant's rights to due process and a fair trial with respect to the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter; and therefore, affected the verdict?
- II. Whether, in the alternative, the failure of defense counsel to request an evidentiary hearing concerning juror misconduct was objectively unreasonable; and therefore, deprived the Defendant of effective assistance?
- III. Whether the district court abused its discretion in refusing to provide the jury with supplemental clarifying instruction regarding an essential element of the offense of conviction in response to the jury's expression of confusion with respect thereto?
- IV. Whether the district court erred in denying the Defendant's oral motion for mistrial based upon prosecutorial misconduct?
 - A. Whether the prosecutor engaged in prejudicial misconduct during

summation by arguing that the Defendant had endeavored to corruptly influenced the trial testimony of a prosecution witness?

B. Whether the prosecutor engaged in prejudicial misconduct during summation by vouching for the same prosecution witness?

V. Whether the Defendant's conviction must be reversed as a result of cumulative error?

5. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from a final judgment of conviction based upon a jury verdict following trial in a criminal case, finding the Defendant guilty of the offense of second degree murder with use of a deadly weapon in violation of NRS 200.010, 200.030, 193.165.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

On February 14, 2012, a one count Information was filed in the Eighth Judicial District Court charging Defendant/Appellant Michael Joseph Jeffries ("Michael" or "Mr. Jeffries") with the offense of murder with use of a deadly weapon ("open murder"), a category A felony in violation of NRS 200.010, 200.030, 193.165. AA, Vol.1, pp. 87-89.¹ The offense was alleged therein to have been committed on or

¹ Citations to the Appellant's Appendix are herein designated "AA."

about October 23, 2011 at and within Clark County, Nevada. *Id.* The named decedent was Eric Allen Gore. *Id.*

On March 15, 2012, Mr. Jeffries was arraigned; and to the charge set forth in the Information, entered a plea of not guilty.

On April 19, 2012, Mr. Jeffries, theretofore in custody since his arrest on October 23, 2011, was ordered released pursuant to a bail bond in the amount of \$500,000.

Trial began in the Eighth Judicial District Court on March 23, 2015 before the Honorable J. Charles Thompson, Senior District Judge and a jury. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 93. *et seq.* On March 26, 2015, a verdict was returned finding Mr. Jeffries guilty of second degree murder with use of a deadly weapon, a category A felony. AA, Vol. 3, pp. 671, 677. Mr. Jeffries was thereupon remanded forthwith. AA, Vol. 3, p. 680.

On April 2, 2015, Mr. Jeffries filed a Motion for New Trial, assigning as grounds that prejudicial juror misconduct in accessing and discussing extraneous information regarding punishment had occurred during deliberations. On April 10, 2015, the state filed an Opposition to that motion. On April 14, 2012, the district court conducted a non-evidentiary hearing and thereupon denied the motion. AA, Vol. 3, pp. 683-685.

On May 27, 2015 Mr. Jeffries was (orally) adjudged guilty by the district court of second degree murder with use of a deadly weapon, (AA, Vol. 3, pp. 688, 698),

and was thereupon sentenced, for the murder, to serve a term of imprisonment for life with parole eligibility after a minimum of ten (10) years of imprisonment have been served. AA, Vol. 3, pp. 698-699, 702. He was further sentenced, for the use of a deadly weapon, to serve a consecutive term of imprisonment for seventy-two (72) months with parole eligibility after twelve (12) months of imprisonment have been served. AA, Vol.3, pp. 699, 702. Mr. Jeffries was further ordered to pay restitution in the amount of \$4,651.81. AA, Vol. 3, p. 699. He was given 424 days credit for time served before release on bond. AA, Vol. 3, p. 699.

Written Judgment of Conviction was filed by the district court on June 2, 2015. AA, Vol. 3, pp. 701-702.

On June 29, 2015, the Defendant timely filed his Notice of Appeal. AA, Vol. 3, pp. 703-705.

6. **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The Evidence Adduced at Trial

On Saturday, October 22, 2011, Michael Jeffries and his fiancé, Mandy Ames (“Mandy”) – who were then residing together at Michael’s single-family dwelling house located at 8745 Don Horton Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada (AA, Vol. 1, pp. 114, 126, 146, 208, 215) – invited a small group of friends to join them at their residence that evening for a social get-together. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 122-123, 130-131. In attendance were the couple’s friends Beate Arrington, Kevin Arrington, Megan

Moffitt, Katie Sims and Leah Armor. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 210-211; Vol. 2, pp. 301-302, 318, 320, 322; AA, Vol. 3, pp. 541-542. Also present in the home at the time were Mandy's then-13 year old daughter from a previous marriage, Brittany Ames ("Brittany"),² and Mandy's then-2 year old niece, Mary Jane (who Michael, Mandy and Brittany were temporarily taking care of).³ AA, Vol. 1, pp. 111, 119-120, 122-123, 200; Vol. 2, p. 321.

Michael, Mandy and their adult guests were talking, playing pool, listening to music, and generally having a pleasant evening. AA, Vol. 1, p. 123, 127-128; Vol. 2, pp. 303, 307, 321. Cocktails were served. AA, Vol. 2, p. 324. And a "happy," "positive," "relaxing," and "fun" atmosphere prevailed. AA, Vol 1, pp. 132, 135, 217; Vol. 2, p. 322.

Later that night, Eric Gore ("Eric") came to the house. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 123-124, 126, 212; Vol. 2, pp. 304-306, 322. He and Michael were "very close friends"; indeed, "best friends" since childhood; frequently spent time together engaging in various activities; and communicated with one another on a daily basis. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 124-125, 213, 215; AA, Vol. 2, p. 306.

² Brittany – who then resided with her father during the week, generally spent the weekends at that time with her mother and Michael Jeffries, and had her own room at Michael's house for that purpose. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 114-117, 119-120, 132.

³ By approximately 9:30 P.M., Mary Jane had been put to bed in Brittany's bedroom. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 123, 131-132. She thereafter slept through all of the subsequent events of October 22-23, 2011 described herein. AA, Vol. 1, p. 142.

By all accounts, when he arrived at Michael's home, Eric was obviously intoxicated. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 128, 216. And he continued to drink heavily after his arrival. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 216-217; Vol. 2, p. 324. Indeed, toxicology testing ultimately determined that Eric had a Blood Alcohol Content level of .276 (3 ½ times the legal driving limit in Nevada); and had pharmacologically active levels of both marijuana and the prescription medication "Xanax" in his system that night. AA, Vol. 2, pp. 369-370, 380.⁴

By all accounts, Eric was also in an agitated state; exhibited an exaggerated "macho" demeanor; and was "loud and obnoxious," (AA Vol. 1, pp. 133, 216; Vol. 2, p. 323; Vol. 3, p. 544.); causing both Michael and Mandy to repeatedly ask him to calm down and lower his voice. AA, Vol. 1, p. 133, 216.

Before long Eric became embroiled in an altercation with Megan Moffitt ("Megan"), (AA, Vol. 1, pp. 135, 217-219; Vol. 2, pp. 307, 325; AA, Vol. 3, pp. 542-548); screaming extremely vulgar and abusive profanities at her; addressing her in a very confrontational manner; and representing that he was a member of "Hell's Angels" in doing so.⁵ AA, Vol. 2, pp. 314, 325-327; Vol. 3, pp. 544-545.

⁴ Clark County Medical Examiner Dr. Lary Simms testified that the synergistic effect of this combination of substances diminishes an individual's ability to engage in rational decision-making; changes an individual's normal perceptions and emotions; and renders an individual's behavior unpredictable. AA, Vol. 2, p. 380.

⁵ By all accounts, this altercation concerned what was actually a trivial matter.

In the process, the heavily-tattooed, 6 foot, 5 inch tall Eric physically encroached upon the 5 foot tall Megan – a “little girl” who is “very small in stature.” AA, Vol. 2, p. 331; Vol. 3, pp. 544, 546. And, as a result, Beate Arrington (“Beate”) – who was seated next to Megan on a couch at the time – became quite concerned; perceiving that Eric was “itching to get into it with someone;” and anticipating, on the basis of her observations, that he was about to physically assault Megan. AA, Vol. 3, pp. 544, 546. She therefore put her arms around Megan and laid her across her lap in order to physically protect Megan from Eric, and asked Michael to get Eric away from them. AA, Vol. 2, pp. 308, 326; Vol. 3, pp. 544, 546.

Michael then walked Eric outside to the backyard of the residence, (AA, Vol. 1, p. 134; Vol. 3, pp. 544, 545); whereupon Eric told Michael that he was going to physically batter Megan. AA, Vol. 1, p. 23. And in an effort to defuse the situation, Michael endeavored to calm Eric down. AA, Vol. 1, p. 134; Vol. 3, pp. 544-545.

Nevertheless, when the two thereafter re-entered the residence, Eric resumed his loud and disruptive behavior; requiring Michael to continue to endeavor to calm him, to no avail. AA, Vol. 1, p. 136. In so doing, Michael was being “friendly . . . but assertive”; “reminding [Eric] that . . . he need[ed] to calm down because he was in his [(Michael’s)] house.” AA, Vol. 1, p. 137. However, Eric refused to desist; and, as a result, the two “became . . . more aroused towards each other.” AA, Vol. 1, pp. 137-138.

As a result of Eric's behavior, the other guests decided to leave. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 134, 217-219; AA, Vol. 2, pp. 308-310, 315, 325-326, 330; AA, Vol. 3, p. 547; AA, Vol. 1, p. 48. And when they thereupon exited the house together, Eric followed them out to the front of the house, screaming obscenities at them. AA, Vol. 2, p. 332; Vol. 3, pp. 547-548.

Upon his re-entry, the only persons now remaining in the home were Michael, Mandy, 13 year old Brittany, 2 year old Mary Jane, and Eric Gore. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 143, 220. Eric was "riled up" and continued to rant and rave about his confrontation with Megan Moffitt; loudly referring to her in profoundly profane, pejorative terms, (AA, Vol. 1, pp. 220-221); and vociferously complaining that Michael had failed to take his side in the matter of his dispute with her. AA, Vol. 1, p. 24. Meanwhile Michael, in a continuing futile effort to calm Eric down, repeatedly urged him to "let it go." AA, Vol. 1, pp. 220-221.

Both Mandy and Michael asked Eric to leave the house, but he refused to do so; responding that "he didn't have to." AA, Vol. 1, pp. 221-224, 227-228. Concerned about the effect of Eric's continuing disruptive behavior and vulgarity upon his fiancé, 13 year old Brittany, and 2 year old Mary Jane, (AA, Vol. 1, p. 26), Michael thereupon repeatedly demanded that Eric leave the home. AA, Vol. 1, p. 224. And as Brittany testified at trial, it was her first-hand perception that, in doing so, Michael was trying to be "very protective." AA, Vol. 1, p. 84.

But Eric defiantly persisted in his refusal to leave the residence, (AA, Vol. 1, pp. 25-26, 224), causing a heated verbal argument between the two men to ensue. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 224-225. And when Eric thereupon threatened to physically assault Michael, (AA, Vol. 1, pp. 24, 26, 48), a fistfight broke out, and both men wound up struggling on the kitchen floor. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 138-139; Vol. 2, p. 283.

Michael thereupon got up from the floor and retreated to his master bedroom, with Eric in immediate pursuit. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 83, 139). He therein retrieved a pistol from under the mattress of his bed, (AA, Vol. 2, p. 283); believing that if he displayed the firearm, Eric would realize that Michael was serious about asserting his dominion over the premises and would finally agree to leave. AA, Vol. 1, p. 27.⁶

However, upon retrieving his pistol, Michael was immediately confronted with Eric aggressively screaming and “charging” at him as he stood near the bedroom door. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 1-4, 27-28, 31-33. At that point, Michael therefore had to consider – within a split second –whether, in charging at him, Eric intended to wrest the pistol from him and kill or seriously injure him. AA, Vol. 1, p. 34. Michael thereupon fired a single shot as Eric closed within 2 feet of him. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 27-28, 31-33, 141; Vol. 2, pp. 465-466.

⁶ Michael, the son of a former Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (“LVMPD”) detective, was trained in the use of firearms. AA, Vol. 2, pp. 464-465. He had a Nevada permit to carry concealed weapons, and the pistol in question was duly registered. AA, Vol. 2, p. 407.

The foregoing circumstances were corroborated by the subsequent investigation of the physical evidence at the scene conducted by Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (“LVMPD”) homicide detectives and crime scene analysts as well as the autopsy conducted by the medical examiner. Thus, as the detectives and police analysts testified at trial, upon their arrival, the house was in “disarray” – consistent with a “struggle” having taken place (AA, Vol. 2, p. 445, 473) – and Eric was found lying on the floor at the spot where he had fallen, just outside the master bedroom door, lying on top of blood deposited at that location, with his head toward the master bedroom and his feet toward the kitchen area. AA, Vol. 2, pp. 278-279, 288, 291, 414. And as they further testified, based on the location of the spent cartridge casing; the location of the blood on the floor; the original location of the body when found by first responders; the trajectory of the spent bullet; and the testimony of the medical examiner that Eric was shot at a distance of 2-3 feet, the physical evidence at the scene showed that Eric fell to the floor *behind* the location at which Michael was standing when he fired the weapon; indicating forward momentum on the part of Eric toward Michael at the time that the shot was fired. AA, Vol. 3, pp. 523-525, 528.

///

///

///

As a result of the single gunshot fired by Michael Jeffries, Eric Gore was killed. AA, Vol. 2, pp. 345-346.⁷

The Instructions to the Jury

The district court explained to the jury that the charge of “open murder” contained in the Information “includes Murder of the First Degree, Murder of the Second Degree, and Voluntary Manslaughter”; and that it was their duty “to apply the rules of law contained in the [] instructions to the facts of the case and determine whether or not the defendant is guilty of any offense and, if so, of which offense.” Instruction Number 3, AA, Vol. 3, p. 642. And accordingly, the verdict form submitted to the jury provided the panel with the options of finding Mr. Jeffries (1) guilty of murder of the first degree; (2) guilty of murder of the second degree; (3) guilty of voluntary manslaughter; or (4) not guilty. AA, Vol. 3, p. 671 (verdict).

⁷ Brittany Ames was called and testified as a trial witness on behalf of the prosecution. On direct examination, Brittany testified that she was unable to clearly remember some of the historical events that had occurred 3 ½ years earlier; and accordingly, the district court admitted previous versions provided by her into evidence. AA, Vol. 1, pp. 184-194; AA, Vol. 2, pp. 466-468, 470-472, AA, Vol. 3, pp. 489-490. These included an unsworn, audio-recorded voluntary statement provided to LVMPD Detective Dean Raetz on October 23, 2011; an unsworn, audio-recorded voluntary statement provided to LVMPD Detective Dean O’Kelley on October 27, 2011; and the preliminary hearing testimony given by Brittany before the Las Vegas Justice Court. These various versions were materially inconsistent in several significant respects and were objectively inaccurate in others.

The district court instructed the jury that “Murder is the unlawful killing of a human being, with malice aforethought, either express or implied,” (Instruction Number 9, AA, Vol. 3, p. 649); that “Malice aforethought means the intentional doing of a wrongful act without legal cause or excuse or what the law considers adequate provocation,” (Instruction Number 10, AA, Vol. 3, p. 650); and that “Malice shall be implied when no considerable provocation appears.” Instruction Number 11, AA, Vol. 3, p. 651.

The district court instructed the jury that, in contradistinction, “Voluntary Manslaughter is the unlawful killing of a human being, without malice aforethought and without deliberation and premeditation. It is a killing upon a sudden quarrel or heat of passion, caused by a provocation sufficient to make the passion irresistible.” Instruction Number 17, AA, Vol. 3, p. 657. The district court further explained that “[t]he provocation required for Voluntary Manslaughter . . . m[ay] . . . consist of . . . an attempt by the person killed to commit a serious personal injury on the person killing”; that “the sudden heat of passion can occur without direct physical contact”; and that a sudden, violent and irresistible impulse of passion may attach where there has not “been an interval between the assault or provocation and the killing sufficient for the voice of reason and humanity to be heard . . . [and] for a cool head to prevail.” Instruction Number 17, AA, Vol. 3, p. 657. Thus, the district court explained to the jury that “[t]he basic inquiry is whether or not, at the time of the killing, the reason

of the accused was obscured or disturbed by passion to such an extent as would cause the ordinarily reasonable man of average disposition to act rashly and without deliberation and reflection and from such passion rather than from judgment.” Instruction Number 18, AA, Vol. 3, p. 658.

As the district court instructed the jury: “Should you find that the defendant did not commit Murder of either the First or Second Degree but believe beyond a reasonable doubt that he is responsible for the homicide, you must determine if that killing was Voluntary Manslaughter.” Instruction Number 15, AA, Vol. 3, p. 655. And as the court further duly explained: “If you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the killing was unlawful, but you have a reasonable doubt whether the crime is murder or voluntary manslaughter, you must give the Defendant the benefit of that doubt and return a verdict of voluntary manslaughter.” Instruction Number 16, AA, Vol. 3, p. 656. Thus, as the district court instructed the jury: “If after consideration of all the evidence you have a reasonable doubt as to whether or not the defendant acted in a heat of passion caused by the requisite legal passion, you must return a verdict of voluntary manslaughter. This is because the State has the burden of proving that the defendant did not act in the heat of passion.” Instruction Number 18, AA, Vol. 3, p. 658.

The district court duly instructed the jury that “you are to consider only the evidence in the case in reaching a verdict,” (Instruction Number 23, AA, Vol. 3, p.

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