IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Jun 20 2016 01:32 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

MICHAEL JOSEPH JEFFRIES,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 68338

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

VINCENT SAVARESE, III, ESQ. Nevada Bar #002467 Gentile Cristalli Miller Armeni Savarese 410 South Rampart Blvd., Suite 420 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 (702) 880-0000 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

MR. KANE: Judge, I wasn't here when the jury was brought in. But I just wanted the record to reflect that the Court's supplemental charge to the jury was done after consultation with counsel.

THE COURT: And it was the request of all – both sides that I tell them not to discuss punishment and go back and consider the verdict.

3 AA 673-74.

After the verdict, Jeffries filed a Motion for a New Trial based on alleged juror misconduct and the Court heard arguments on it on April 14, 205. 3 AA 682-86. The District Court ultimately found that any claim that the jury was guilty of misconduct was waived by defense counsel's request to re-instruct the jury that they are not to consider punishment, that it was something for the Court to consider in the event that Jeffries was found guilty. 3 AA 683. Furthermore, the District Court found that any potential juror misconduct was harmless because it was obvious that the issue of the case was self-defense. <u>Id.</u> The entire case rested on the issue of self-defense, the jury was going to either find Jeffries not guilty or find him guilty of murder. 3 AA 684.

In this case, the District Court did not abuse its discretion finding that Jeffries had waived the issue of potential juror misconduct by making a strategic decision to

have the Court re-instruct the jury. A defendant cannot learn of juror misconduct during the trial, gamble on a favorable verdict by remaining silent and then complain in a post-verdict motion that the verdict was prejudicially influenced by that misconduct. United States v. Jones, 597 F.2d 485, 488 n.3 (5th Cir. 1979); see also Oakes v. Howard, 473 F.2d 672, 674 (6th Cir. 1973)(failure to object to facts known at trial claimed later to be prejudicial precludes subsequent consideration of such a claim); State v. Hudson, 268 Neb. 151, 159, 680 N.W.2d 603, 610 (2004)(when a party has knowledge during trial of irregularity or misconduct, the party must timely assert his or her right to a mistrial. One may not waive an error, gamble on a favorable result, and, upon obtaining an unfavorable result, assert the previously waived error).

In this case, the District Court properly found that Jeffries had waived any potential juror misconduct by requesting the District Court to re-instruct the jury. Jeffries made a strategic decision to have the Court re-instruct the jury because he believed the juror's research might potentially be to his benefit. The note stated that a juror had looked up the consequences of a guilty plea and was **against the penalty**. 3 AA 668(emphasis added). Jeffries knew that he could question the juror about the research and potentially move for a mistrial. However, the fact that the juror was against the penalty might have actually been beneficial to him. Jeffries made a strategic decision to re-instruct the jury rather than question the juror who looked up

the information, and then be forced to excuse a juror who was to his benefit. Jeffries gambled on a favorable verdict by choosing to reinstruct the jury that they are not to consider punishment, that it was something for the Court to consider in the event that Jeffries was found guilty; a gamble that paid off as the jury ultimately found Jeffries guilty of Second Degree murder, and not the First Degree Murder that the State was seeking. Accordingly, Jeffries's intentional waiver of his right to raise the alleged juror misconduct in a motion for a mistrial waived his right to file a motion for a new trial based on the same alleged juror misconduct. Jeffries knew of the alleged misconduct during trial and made a strategic decision to waive the issue and re-instruct the jury. Thus, he was precluded from asserting the previously waived issue after the jury returned its verdict.

Even assuming *arguendo* that Jeffries had not waived a claim of potential juror misconduct, he has failed to demonstrate that he was prejudiced. The Court in Meyer noted:

We conclude that a conclusive presumption of prejudice applies only in the most egregious cases of extraneous influence on a juror, such as jury tampering. We reject the position that any extrinsic influence is automatically prejudicial. Instead, we adopt the position of the circuit courts that examine the nature of the extrinsic influence in determining whether such influence is presumptively prejudicial . . . Jurors' exposure to extraneous information via independent research or improper experiment is likewise unlikely to raise a presumption of prejudice. In these cases, the extrinsic information must be analyzed in the context of the trial as a whole

to determine if there is a reasonable probability that the information affected the verdict.

Meyer, 119 Nev. at 564-65, 80 P.3d at 455-56 (emphasis added). The Court also set forth factors for the district court to consider in determining whether there is a reasonable probability that the juror misconduct affected the verdict. The Court stated:

To determine whether there is a reasonable probability that juror misconduct affected a verdict, a court may consider a number of factors. For example, a court may look at how the material was introduced to the jury (third-party contact, media source, independent research, etc.), the length of time it was discussed by the jury, and the timing of its introduction (beginning, shortly before verdict, after verdict, etc.). Other factors include whether the information was ambiguous, vague, or specific in content; whether it was cumulative of other evidence adduced at trial: whether it involved a material or collateral issue: or whether it involved inadmissible evidence (background of the parties, insurance, prior bad acts, etc.). In addition, a court must consider the extrinsic influence in light of the trial as a whole and the weight of the evidence. These factors are instructive only and not dispositive.

Id. at 565, 80 P.3d at 456.

In Meyer, the Nevada Supreme Court specifically cited to cases that stood for the proposition that a juror's use of a dictionary is not considered prejudicial per se. 119 Nev. at 565 n.28, 80 P.3d at 456 n.28. As such, simply because a juror looked up "a guilty plea and the penalty of a guilty plea" does not mean prejudice to Jeffries is presumed.

In comparing the juror conduct with the factors outlined in Meyer, it is clear that Jeffries has not met his burden in demonstrating prejudice. Factor number one, how the material was introduced to the jury, does not support a finding of prejudice. The only thing the record demonstrates is that a juror conducted a brief inquiry into the guilty plea, the penalty for the guilty plea, and that the juror was against it. 3 AA 668. There is no evidence that any further "research" was conducted. Furthermore, other factors noted in Meyer such as whether the information presented was ambiguous, vague or specific, whether the information was cumulative of evidence presented to trial and whether the information was material or collateral does not support a finding of prejudice.

Finally, the final factor in Meyer indicates that a court should consider the extrinsic evidence in light of the trial as a whole and the weight of the evidence. 119 at 565, 80 P.3d at 456. The evidence in this case was overwhelming. Not only did Jeffries admit to shooting the victim in a phone call to 911 and to the police during a videotaped statement, the single eye witness to the murder, Brittany, stated that she saw Jeffries shoot the victim in a manner that was not consistent with self-defense. 1 AA 1-86. Brittany gave four statements prior to trial. One to her father whom she called right after the murder. 1 AA 200-204. A second one to the police immediately after the murder and a third one during a taped statement at the police department. 1 AA 7-15, 54-70. Finally, Brittany testified at the preliminary hearing.

1 AA 71-86. During every one of these occasions, Brittany was able to relay in significant detail that Jeffries punched Eric several times, including after Eric fell to the floor. 1 AA 7-15, 54-86. Jeffries stated that he was going to get his gun, got up and went to his bedroom to get his gun. <u>Id.</u> Brittany then saw Jeffries shoot Eric as Eric was backing up scared. <u>Id.</u> This evidence was corroborated by the crime scene analysis conducted by the LVMPD. 2 AA 463, 484-507. Based on the overwhelming evidence presented at trial Jeffries fails to demonstrate that he was prejudiced by a juror looking up the potential sentence of a guilty plea. Therefore, the District Court did not abuse its discretion denying Jeffries Motion for a New Trial based on alleged juror misconduct.

Finally, Jefferies's claim that the alleged error constitutes structural error that requires reversal of his conviction is without merit. AOB 29-30, footnote 29. The concept of structural error was considered by the United States Supreme Court in Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 309, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 1264-1265 (1991). The United States Supreme Court recognized that "most constitutional errors can be harmless." Id. The Court noted that "the common thread connecting these cases is that each involved 'trial error'-- error which occurred during the presentation of the case to the jury, and which may therefore be quantatively assessed in the context of other evidence presented in order to determine whether its admission was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. at 308, 111 S.Ct. at 1264. The Court contrasted

"trial error," which is amenable to a harmless-error analysis, with "structural error", which defies examination by harmless-error standards. <u>Id.</u> The Court noted that "structural error" has only been found when there has been an error that has infected the entire trial "from beginning to end." <u>Id.</u> at 309-10, 111 S.Ct. at 1264-65; <u>See also Gideon v. Wainwright</u>, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792 (1963)(total deprivation of the right to counsel), <u>Tumey v. Ohio</u>, 273 U.S. 510, 47 S.Ct. 437 (1927)(a trial judge who lacked impartiality), <u>Waller v. Georgia</u>, 467 U.S. 39, 104 S.Ct. 2210 (1984)(absence of the right to a public trial)

The alleged error in this case occurred after the presenting of the case to the jury and therefore falls directly within the penumbra of "trial error." See Fulminante, 499 U.S. at 310, 111 S.Ct. at 1265. The alleged error was not such that it infected the entire trial process from beginning to end but rather, because it occurred after the close of evidence it is very amenable to being "quantatively assessed in the context of other evidence presented." Id. at 307-308, 111 S.Ct. at 1264. Therefore, the alleged error does not fall within the magnitude of a structural error.

II JEFFRIES'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IS NOT APPROPRIATELY RAISED IN HIS DIRECT APPEAL

Jeffries claims that counsel was ineffective for not challenging the alleged juror misconduct. AOB 33-35. However, the Nevada Supreme Court has long recognized that claims of ineffective assistance of counsel should not be raised on

direct appeal but rather in post-conviction relief proceedings. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 883, 34 P.3d 519, 535 (2001); see also Feazell v. State, 111 Nev. 1446, 1449, 906 P.2d 727, 729 (1995); Gibbons v. State, 97 Nev. 520, 523, 634 P.2d 1214, 1216 (1981). The Court specifically held that where it is possible that counsel could rationalize his performance at an evidentiary hearing for the purpose of determining effective assistance, appellate review is not appropriate. Id. Accordingly, the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel should not be considered in a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction but, rather, should be raised, in the first instance, in the district court in a petition for post-conviction relief so that an evidentiary record regarding counsel's performance at trial can be created. Wallach v. State, 106 Nev. 470, 474 n.1, 796 P.2d 224, 227 (1990).

Jeffries's claim that this Court should entertain his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal because an evidentiary hearing would be unnecessary is without merit. A review of ineffective assistance of counsel claims on direct appeal if an evidentiary hearing would be unnecessary is an exception to the general rule. Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 883, 34 P.3d at 534. In order for this Court to review claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal it must be clear, on its face, from the trial record that counsel was ineffective per se. Mazzan v. State, 100 Nev. 74, 79-80, 675 P.2d 409, 412-13 (1984). In this case, there is nothing in the record to support Jeffries's claim that counsel's was ineffective per se.

Therefore, the appropriate vehicle for this claim is a petition for post-conviction relief.

Jeffries's claim that counsel's decision to reinstruct the jury rather than challenge the jurors conduct was objectively unreasonable is meritless. "Strategy or decisions regarding the conduct of defendant's case are virtually unchallengeable, absent extraordinary circumstances." Doleman v. State, 112 Nev. 843, 848, 921 P.2d 278, 280 (1996). "Judicial review of a lawyer's representation is highly deferential, and a defendant must overcome the presumption that a challenged action might be considered sound strategy." State v. LaPena, 114 Nev. 1159, 1168, 968 P.2d 750, 756 (1998). In this case, the jury submitted a note to the Court that stated that one of the jurors looked up the consequences of a guilty plea and was against the penalty. 3 AA 668. Based on the facial reading of the record, it is reasonable that defense counsel made a strategic decision to reinstruct the jury that they were not to consider punishment in their decision and reinstruct them that the Court decided what, if any, punishment to impose. It is reasonable that counsel may have made a strategic decision that leaving the jury on the jury and not requesting a mistrial would prove advantageous during deliberation. Accordingly, Jeffries's claim is not supported by a clear reading of the record. Therefore, the appropriate vehicle for Jeffries's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is a petition for postconviction relief.

III

THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY NOT PROVIDING SUPPLEMENTAL CLARIFYING INSTRUCTIONS

Jeffries claims that the Court erred in not providing a supplemental jury instruction regarding malice. AOB 35-40. The Nevada Supreme Court has long held that the trial court has wide discretion in deciding the manner in which to answer jury questions. Tellis v. State, 84 Nev. 587, 591, 445 P.2d 938, 941 (1968); see also Scott v. State, 92 Nev. 552, 555, 554 P.2d 735, 737 (1976). If the District Court is of the opinion that the instructions already given are adequate, correctly state the law and fully advise the jury on the procedures they are to follow in their deliberation, the court's refusal to answer a question already answered in the instructions in not error. Id.

During jury deliberations, the jury sent out two questions to the Court. The two questions were as follows:

Ouestion 1:

May we have more clarity/explanation on malice aforethought.

Question 2:

Can we also get further understanding between 2nd degree vs manslaughter

Does a conscious intent to cause death or great harm before committing the crime fall into the criteria of malice?

3 AA 669-70.

The District Court advised the jury that it could not supplement the instructions provided and directed the jury to the instructions that gave the complete legal definitions of malice aforethought, 2nd degree murder and manslaughter. 3 AA 674-75. Additionally, the District Court advised the jury that it could not respond to their question regarding whether conscious intent to cause death or harm before committing the crime is malice because that was the ultimately decision for them to decide. 3 AA 675. Both the State and Jeffries agreed with the Court's response. 3 AA 675-76. However, Jeffries did request the Court to provide a supplemental instruction that malice must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt; which the District Court denied.¹ 3 AA 676. By failing to object to the Court's instruction to the jury regarding their questions about malice aforethought and the difference between 2nd degree murder and manslaughter, Jeffries failed to preserve this issue for appeal. That failure waives all but plain error. Maestas v. State, 128 Nev. , , 275 P.3d 74, 89 (2012). This Court reviews unpreserved constitutional errors for plain error. Martinorellan v. State, 131 Nev. , , 343 P.3d 590, 593 (Nev. 2015). Plain error is "so unmistakable that it reveals itself by a casual inspection of the record." Patterson v. State, 111 Nev. 1525, 1530, 907 P.2d 984, 987 (1995). A defendant has the burden to demonstrate that the error affected his substantial rights, by causing

⁻

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